THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2015-CP-23-00973

Appellate Case No. 2019-000701

RECEIVED
OCT 08 2019
SC Court of Appeals

O'Neal Constructors, LLC.....Respondent,

v.

GE Betz, Inc. d/b/a GE Water & Process TechnologiesAppellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
GE BETZ, INC. D/B/A GE WATER & PROCESS TECHNOLOGIES**

Gray T. Culbreath
Ashley B. Stratton
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 7368
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-1833

*Attorneys for Appellant GE Betz, Inc. d/b/a
GE Water & Process Technologies*

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I) Whether O'Neal presented any evidence GE Betz negligently misrepresented it was servicing the water treatment system pursuant to a contract with Owner.
- II) Whether O'Neal presented any evidence that its reliance on any representation made by GE Betz was justified or reasonable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent O'Neal Constructors, LLC ("O'Neal") is a construction company based in Greenville, South Carolina. In February 2015, O'Neal filed a Complaint against Appellant GE Betz, Inc. ("GE Betz") arising out of damage that occurred to a facility that O'Neal was constructing for GE Power & Water at the GE Turbine facility in Greenville, South Carolina.¹ The March 26, 2016 Amended Complaint² asserts causes of action under South Carolina Law against GE Betz for: (1) negligence (2) breach of implied warranty of workmanlike services and (3) negligent misrepresentation.

A trial was held in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on February 25-28, 2019. The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin presided. The jury rendered a verdict of \$648,698.32³ in favor of O'Neal on the negligent misrepresentation claim. GE Betz filed a Motion pursuant to Rules 50(b) and 59 (a) & (e), SCRCF, for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, a new trial, and/or an Order altering or amending the judgment on the grounds that Plaintiff failed to produce any evidence of a false representation made by GE Betz to O'Neal, and Plaintiff failed to produce any evidence that it justifiably relied on an alleged representation made by GE Betz. By Order filed March 25, 2019, GE Betz's Motion was denied. This appeal follows.

¹ Although GE Betz and GE Power & Water have a common first name, that is where the similarities end.

² A Consent Order to Amend Pleadings to Conform to Evidence at Trial was entered March 13, 2019, and a Second Amended Complaint was filed for the sole purpose of changing Defendant's name from "GE Water & Process Technologies" to "GE Betz, Inc. d/b/a GE Water & Process Technologies."

³ The \$1,081,163.87 award was reduced based on the jury's finding that the fault attributable to O'Neal was 40%.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The GE Turbine facility in Greenville, South Carolina, is a “center facility” for the manufacturing of gas turbines for GE Power & Water (“Owner”). (Trial Tr. 394:19-20.) In addition to a massive manufacturing plant, the facility includes a technology lab and several separate systems, some of which maintained contracts with GE Betz, a water treatment company specializing in the sale and service of water treatment chemicals for water-dependent machines. (*Id.* at 394:3-20; 420:15-18.) In addition to selling chemicals such as corrosion inhibitors and biocide required to maintain cooling towers and other water-dependent machines, GE Betz also offered service as part of the contracts with the individual systems at the facility. (*Id.* at 422:2-16.) These chemical monitoring services include testing chemical residuals and the chemistry that is fed to system applications. (*Id.* at 422:25-423:3.) Each system or location on the GE Turbine site maintained its own contract with GE Betz. (*Id.* at 394:19-22, 526:12.)

O’Neal is an engineering design and construction company which was hired by Owner to design and construct a project used to test turbines after they are manufactured. (*Id.* at 35:10-17, 36:10-13.) O’Neal entered into a contract in 2012 with Owner to design and construct a process which would allow gas turbine testing through the use of liquefied natural gas, an assignment which came to be known as the LNG Project. (*Id.* at 58:7-17, Second Am. Comp. ¶ 6.) According to the LNG project manager for Owner, Randy Paul, responsibility for the LNG Project was completely on O’Neal until the keys were turned over to Owner: “O’Neal was responsible for every aspect of the plant from engineering, construction, commissioning, turnover, and successful operation of the plant.” (*Id.* at 395:2-10.)

The LNG Project included a cooling tower and related piping and equipment, which circulates chemically treated water through certain equipment such as heat exchangers. (*Id.* at

59:20-60:25.) The cooling tower system contained water which was open to the atmosphere such that it naturally became contaminated with dust, microbes, algae spores and the like. (*Id.* at 64:24-65:7.) Consequently, the water required treatment in order to prevent scale corrosion and microbiological attack. (*Id.* at 65:7, 515:8-10.) Water treatment services included “testing chemical residuals based on the equipment and the chemistry that is being fed to the system application ... basically chemical monitoring services.” (*Id.* at 422:25-423:3.) Because O’Neal had complete responsibility for the LNG Project until the keys were turned over to Owner, O’Neal was responsible for water treatment on the site. (*Id.* at 395:2-7.) However, O’Neal does not design, treat or otherwise operate cooling tower water treatment systems. (*Id.* at 65:10-11, 75:7-8, 183:5 “O’Neal does not do water treatment.”) So in order to fulfill its contractual obligations to Owner, O’Neal needed to hire and enter into an agreement with a water treatment service provider like GE Betz. Service agreements like the one O’Neal should have entered in order to fulfill its obligations to Owner are typically reduced to writing in some type of contract which details what the service will consist of and how frequently it will occur. (*Id.* at 580:9-11, 581:3-10.)

Because Owner was not responsible for any aspect of the water treatment, Owner instructed O’Neal to solicit components and chemicals needed for the Chemical Treatment System from GE Betz. (*Id.* at 68:24-69:5; 72:2-4, 396:11-13.) Specifically, a member of O’Neal’s design team asked Owner for the name and contact information for the GE Betz employee responsible for Owner’s cooling tower so that O’Neal could coordinate with that person for the LNG project. (*Id.* at 74:24-75:3.) In response, Owner gave O’Neal contact information for the GE Betz account manager for the GE Turbine site. (*Id.* at 75:19-21.)

GE Betz formulated a quote for the LNG Project and initially sent the quote for the water treatment system to Owner in August, 2013. (*Id.* at 78:3-9, 18-19, 146:11-13; Def.'s Ex. 3.) Owner's project manager for the LNG Project, Randy Paul, responded to the quote in an email to GE Betz that also included O'Neal's project and construction managers as recipients. (*Id.* at 396:24-397:7.) Paul, on behalf of Owner, informed GE Betz and O'Neal of the following:

The chemical treatment system for the cooling water system is part of the O'Neal EPC contract. Your contacts at O'Neal are Jay Hendrix, project manager ... and Ron Bice, construction manager ... Jay and Ron will keep us in the approval process but it is ultimately O'Neal's responsibility from a contractual standpoint. Please address all future correspondence to O'Neal until the commissioning is complete and GE takes possession of the "keys" to the plant.

(*Id.* at 397:15-25, Def. Ex. 5.) According to Owner, it was always up to O'Neal to make arrangements for water treatment. (*Id.* at 398:23-25.) At no point did Owner ever tell O'Neal it would pay for the water treatment prior to the turnover of the plant. (*Id.* at 398:1-5.)

According to these instructions from Owner, GE Betz sent a quote to O'Neal in October, 2013, for the equipment and chemicals needed to treat the water in the cooling tower at the LNG Project. (Def. Ex. 8.) Notably, GE Betz's quote did not include service of the water treatment system. (*Id.* at 147:8-10, 428:16-18.) In fact, there is no evidence that GE Betz told anyone from O'Neal that it would be providing chemical treatment service to the LNG site prior to August 2014. (*Id.* at 424:8-13.) Thus, when GE Betz's account manager, Scott Rutledge, sent the O'Neal project manager the initial quote for the LNG Project, he specifically informed O'Neal that he was "not includ[ing] the monthly TruSense monitoring fee." (*Id.* at 426:8-15, Def. Ex. 7.)

After O'Neal purchased the initial equipment and materials needed to start the water treatment system from GE Betz, Scott Rutledge went to the LNG site on March 3, 2014, to check the system. (*Id.* at 431:11-13.) Per O'Neal's request and because O'Neal had purchased

supplies from GE Betz, Rutledge got the system started including plugging the pumps into the controller and making sure the controller was operational. (*Id.* at 431:18-24, 435:17-436:11.) Rutledge's "good faith" efforts on March 3 were not part of a service contract because there was no service contract in place at that time. (*Id.* at 438:8-12, 439:21-22, 554:13-16.) Rutledge merely got the system "online." (*Id.* at 528:10-15.) GE Betz's area manager in 2014, David Kirkland, testified that in his twenty-five (25) years of experience in the water treatment business, starting equipment or getting it "online" does not equate to servicing the system. (*Id.* at 528:25-529:4.)

Because there was no service contract in place, Rutledge did not intend to return to the LNG site on a regular basis and perform services. (*Id.* at 439:23-440:2.) Between March 3 and July 7, 2014, Rutledge visited the LNG site periodically when he was in the area servicing other, separate contracts at the GE Turbine site. (*Id.* at 440:13-21.) Rutledge would not always be able to access the chemical treatment system at the LNG site because construction was ongoing and the area was sometimes taped off. (*Id.* at 504:5-13.)

During this time, in an effort to help and answer questions, Rutledge occasionally made recommendations to O'Neal representatives regarding the chemical treatment system. (*Id.* at 454:19-23.) Rutledge hoped to get the service contract for the LNG site at some point. (*Id.* at 452:6-7, 55:3-4 "[GE Betz] did hope it would become another GE [Betz] account.") Rutledge received commission for such contracts. (*Id.* at 444:19-22.) He testified that occasional servicing without a contract and without compensation is sometimes performed in an effort to market the business. (*Id.* at 475:7-11.) Similarly, GE Betz's area manager, David Kirkland, testified that GE Betz was "working to support the efforts of getting the project started." (*Id.* at 539:22-23.)

Rutledge's visits to the LNG site between March 3 and July 7 were not according to a service schedule. (*Id.* at 456:9-13.) Indeed, O'Neal was not aware of any set service schedule during the relevant time period. (*Id.* at 161:2-4.) Rutledge testified he was never asked by O'Neal when he was coming to visit the site. (*Id.*) Also, he never gave O'Neal startup reports or any other reports related to monitoring of the system. (*Id.* at 149:13-14.) During this time, GE Betz was not paid by anyone to perform service on the LNG chemical treatment system. (*Id.* at 566:18-23.)

After Rutledge started the chemical treatment system on March 3, O'Neal failed to monitor the system and failed to hire GE Betz or anyone else to monitor the system. Consequently, untreated water circulated through cooling water piping at the LNG site for months. Finally, around July 7, 2014, O'Neal contacted GE Betz about a potential issue at the LNG site. (*Id.* at 447:12-17.) In response to O'Neal's concerns, Rutledge visited the site and found the water treatment pumps and controller to be "discombobulated". (*Id.* at 448:7-10.) Rutledge recalled that on prior visits, he had seen tools on top of the chemical drums and possibly "some things unplugged and not in order." (*Id.* at 442:20-25, 443:15-16.) Similarly, Kirkland observed that the pumps were not plugged into the correct pigtails or not plugged in at all. (*Id.* at 531:17-24.)

O'Neal representatives also noticed things were awry. Though he had been to the location "numerous times", O'Neal's manager of field services, Phillip Honea did not notice any irregularities with the water treatment system until it was too late. For the first time on July 7, Honea observed a water treatment pump for the biocide drum plugged directly into the wall and "it didn't really look correct to [him] at all." (*Id.* at 274:10-12, 306:19-19-307:1.) Per Honea's familiarity with similar treatment systems, the pump was continuously pumping chemical instead

of running through the controller which would have regulated the amount of chemical released into the water. (*Id.* at 278:4-11.) According to Honea, other O’Neal employees passed the equipment and failed to notice any irregularities. (*Id.* at 307:2-7.)

O’Neal’s failure to contract with anyone to monitor the chemical treatment system from March 3 to July 7 resulted in corrosion to the pipes and other equipment on the LNG site. In response to the discovery of corrosion, David Kirkland, on behalf of GE Betz, investigated the situation and did not see where GE Betz had a statement of work that would have defined what it was being asked to do or that anybody came to service the system. (*Id.* at 526:14-25.) Indeed, it is undisputed there never was a contract between O’Neal and GE Betz for service of the water treatment system. (*Id.* at 148:11-14, 486:14-15 “[GE Betz] didn’t have a service contract for [the LNG] system.”) According to O’Neal’s engineering project manager, Don Bliss, O’Neal operated under an assumption that service was being provided pursuant to some other contract. (*Id.* at 148:15-19.) O’Neal’s construction project manager, Lonnie Blanton, believed Owner was going to hire GE Betz to run the water treatment system as Owner had done with other locations on the GE Turbine site. (*Id.* at 214:23-215:3.) And O’Neal’s manager of field services, Phillip Honea, believed water treatment on the LNG site would be “umbrellaed” under the contract GE Betz had with Owner for the GE Turbine site. (*Id.* at 272:5-7). No evidence was presented at trial showing anyone from GE Betz ever made an affirmative statement to anyone from O’Neal that it had a contract with Owner to monitor and service the system at the LNG site.

Following the July 7 corrosion event, Owner intervened, and for the first time, established a contract with GE Betz for water treatment at the LNG site. In an August 20, 2014 email from Owner to both GE Betz and O’Neal, Owner confirmed its entry into a contract with GE Betz for the LNG site was “to prevent the damage of the LNG cooling water system that

occurred in the past under O’Neal’s custody.” (*Id.* at 182:13-22; Def.’s Ex. 18.) Owner also clarified it was “merely funding the water treatment service” and not accepting ownership of the system because O’Neal had ownership of the system until the entire plant was commissioned and ownership was accepted by Owner. (*Id.*) Unlike the October 2013 proposal submitted to O’Neal, the August 2014 proposal to Owner specifically stated in the first line that it would be for “ongoing chemistry and service for LNG.” (*Id.* at 546:10-14; Def.’s Ex. 20.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of the appellate court extends to the correction of errors of law, and a factual finding by the jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury’s findings. *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 464, 629 S.E.2d 663-64 (2006). The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the circuit court, and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless its findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. *Umhoefer v. Bollinger*, 298 S.C. 221, 224, 379 S.E.2d 296, 297 (Ct. App. 1989).

ARGUMENT

D) O’Neal Failed to Present any Evidence GE Betz Negligently Misrepresented it was Servicing the Water Treatment System Pursuant to a Contract with Owner.

To establish liability for negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must show (1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the representation; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a

pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation. *Hurst v. Sandy*, 329 S.C. 471, 494 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 1997). The false misrepresentation at issue must be of a material fact. *See Pitten v. Jacobs*, 903 F. Supp. 937 (D.S.C. 1995) (“South Carolina’s courts have made it clear that negligent misrepresentation ... can be based only on misrepresentations of material fact.”). “To be actionable, the representation must relate to a present or pre-existing fact and be false when made.” *Fields v. Melrose P'ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 105, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Ama Mgmt. Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 222, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992)). “The representation cannot ordinarily be based on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events.” *Id.*

A verdict based on negligent misrepresentation is wholly unsupported by the evidence and riddled with errors of law because: (1) there is no evidence GE Betz made any representation to O’Neal that it was providing chemical treatment services pursuant to a contract with Owner; and (2) even if GE Betz made a representation as to service, it related only to future events and not to existing facts.

According to O’Neal, the negligent misrepresentation claim is based on two representations. The first representation was made by Scott Rutledge when he sent an email to O’Neal the day after he put the system online. (Trial Tr. 373:2-8.) The March 4, 2014 email states:

Hello Jim,
Typically these reports [regarding the site visit] will be returned within 24-48 hours. Additionally, with the information provided that the LNG tower will be drained and cleaned one more time we will need to recharge the system and come back and test residuals at that time, At that time, we will provide a full report so please just let me know when this will be done. Of course, corrosion coupons were placed yesterday and a controller was calibrated. Chemistry to include biocide and corrosion inhibitor fed to system as pumps were primed and dialed in for proper feed. Thanks
All the best,
Scott

(Pl's Ex. 13.) The second representation is a conversation between the GE Betz account manager assigned to the GE Turbine sight in 2012, Jason Howell, and Phillip McCollum, O'Neal's mechanical group department head. (Trial Tr. 373:11-15.) McCollum testified that Howell stated GE Betz planned to handle the LNG Project as an extension of its existing contract with Owner at the GE Turbine site. (*Id.* at 191:21-24.)

As an initial matter, neither one of these statements conveyed that GE Betz currently had a contract with Owner for water treatment service at the LNG site. O'Neal's assumption that GE Betz was servicing the water treatment system under an ongoing contract with Owner was based on the fact that Scott Rutledge, GE Betz's account manager, was "on site very periodically" and a representative from Owner saw him. (*Id.* at 11:1-5.) O'Neal's engineering project manager, Don Bliss, believed there were emails wherein GE Betz stated it was servicing the system pursuant to a contract with Owner; but O'Neal failed to present any such emails at trial. In fact, O'Neal failed to present any evidence that GE Betz made any affirmative representation that it was currently servicing the water treatment system pursuant to a contract with Owner. Instead, Bliss's beliefs were based on assumptions. (*Id.* at 148:15-19.) O'Neal, according to Bliss, "didn't pay much attention." (*Id.* at 162:24-163:2.) If there were only assumptions and no representations, then there can be no negligent misrepresentation.

The emails and communications between GE Betz and O'Neal only state that GE Betz planned to service the system pursuant to a contract with Owner at some point in the future. Actionable misrepresentation must relate to a present or pre-existing fact and be false when made, and cannot be based on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events. *Fields*, 312 S.C. at 105, 439 S.E.2d at 285. For instance, in *Fields*, a real estate development company represented to homebuyers that it would sell future memberships to the residential club at higher

prices and would complete various planned construction projects. *Id.* at 105-06, 439 S.E.2d at 285. In affirming the dismissal of the homebuyer's negligent misrepresentation claim, the Court of Appeals held the claim failed because these statements related to future events, not existing facts. *Id.*

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