IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2015-CP-23-00973

Appellate Case No. 2019-000701

O'Neal Constructors, LLC.....Respondent,

v.

GE Betz, Inc. d/b/a GE Betz & Process Technologies..... Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, O'NEAL CONSTRUCTORS, LLC

N. Ward Lambert
Wesley B. Lambert
HARPER LAMBERT, P.A.
P.O. Box 908
Greenville, SC 29602
wlambert@harperlambert.com
weslambert@harperlambert.com

*Attorneys for Respondent, O'Neal
Constructors, LLC*

RECEIVED
DEC 30 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

The elements of a claim for negligent misrepresentation are as follows:

(1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the statement; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.

AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger, 309 S.C. 213, 222, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992).

On appeal, GE Betz only challenges the first and fifth elements regarding the defendant's false representation and the plaintiff's justifiable reliance. As set forth more fully hereinbelow, O'Neal

¹ The jury's verdict was adjusted based upon its finding of comparative negligence.

presented sufficient evidence to satisfy both of these elements and the Court of Appeals should affirm the jury's verdict.

I. O'NEAL PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT GE BETZ REPRESENTED THAT IT PROVIDED CHEMICAL TREATMENT FOR THE COOLING WATER SYSTEM.

GE Betz's contention that O'Neal did not submit any evidence upon which the jury could find that GE Betz made an actionable representation to O'Neal concerning chemical treatment is meritless. "Ordinarily, to be actionable, a statement must relate to a present or preexisting fact, and cannot be predicated on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events. Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 123, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). "To be actionable, the representation must relate to a present or pre-existing fact and be false when made." Fields Melrose Ltd. P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 105, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993).

In this action, O'Neal's damages for misrepresentation arise out of corrosion events that were discovered in July 2014 and August 2015. Regarding the July 2014 corrosion, at a minimum, GE Betz's statements regarding the initial chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System at commissioning and its subsequent statements in meeting minutes that it had provided chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System are sufficient to support the jury's verdict. Moreover, regarding the August 2015 corrosion, there is no dispute that between August 2014 and August 2015, GE Betz was the entity contractually responsible for the chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System pursuant to a contract with Owner.

A. GE Betz Falsely Represented That It Provided Chemical Treatment Beginning on March 3, 2014.

1. GE Betz Mischaracterizes the Evidence Concerning its Representations.

As a preliminary matter, GE Betz mischaracterizes the representation that it seeks to refute. In its Initial Brief, GE Betz claims that O'Neal relied on statements between GE Betz and O'Neal

in 2012 as grounds for its negligent misrepresentation claim and that those statements are not actionable because they are prospective statements rather than statements of pre-existing fact. As set forth more fully herein, O'Neal put forth an abundance of evidence of other representations made after March 3, 2014 demonstrating GE Betz's representations that it performed chemical treatment on March 3, 2014. Accordingly, GE Betz's arguments set forth in its brief regarding statements "unfulfilled future promises" are invalid.²

Additionally, GE Betz contends that O'Neal failed to present evidence "GE Betz negligently misrepresented it was Servicing the Water Treatment System *Pursuant to a Contract with Owner.*" (Def.'s Initial Brief, p. 8). It is true that O'Neal presented evidence at trial that GE Betz did make such a representation. O'Neal employees testified that O'Neal "was told... by GE Betz" that it was providing chemical treatment to the Cooling Water System pursuant to an existing contract. (Trial Tr. 148:15-149:05; 214:09-215:17). However, this representation is not the crux of O'Neal's argument at trial as to GE Betz's primary misrepresentation. Whether GE Betz did or did not have a contract with the Owner relating to the LNG Project prior to August 2014 is immaterial to the jury finding GE Betz liable under a theory of negligent misrepresentation. Instead, as set forth more fully below, whether under a contract, marketing, or some other arrangement, GE Betz's actionable representations, at a minimum, arise out of its false representation to O'Neal that it introduced corrosion inhibitor into the Cooling Water System on March 3, 2014 and subsequent statements that it had provided chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System.

² While statements may not give rise to the type of representation required for a negligent misrepresentation claim, such statements certainly speak to the reasonableness of O'Neal's reliance on GE Betz's representations.

2. *GE Betz Negligently Misrepresented Its Actions Regarding the Chemical Treatment of the Cooling Water System on March 3, 2014.*

GE Betz's first made the representation that it introduced corrosion inhibitor into the Cooling Water System in an email dated March 4, 2014 from Scott Rutledge to Jim Sweatt, Construction Manager for O'Neal, in response to an O'Neal request for a report where he stated as follows:

Typically these reports will be returned within 24-48 hours. Additionally with the information that the LNG tower will be drained and cleaned one more time we will need to recharge system (sic) and come back and test residuals at that time. At that time, we will provide a full report so please just let me know when this will be done. *Of course, corrosion coupons were placed yesterday and controller was calibrated. Chemistry to include biocide and corrosion inhibitor fed to the system as pumps were primed and dialed in for proper feed.*

(Pl.'s Ex. 13) (emphasis added). O'Neal's Project Manager, Lonni Blanton, testified at trial that based on Mr. Rutledge's email and communications, he understood that GE Betz "set up the system, calibrated the system, and he's [Mr. Rutledge] coming back to continue ongoing testing." (Trial Tr. 215:18-220:05). At trial, Mr. Rutledge testified consistent with his email that on March 4, 2014, he came to the LNG site and injected chemicals, including a corrosion inhibitor, into the Cooling Water System. (Id. at 431:05-432:03; 435:17-437:10; 438:24-439:20). When asked about his email on March 4, Mr. Rutledge testified as follows:

Q – At the bottom, Mr. Sweatt's asking for a report?

A – Yeah.

Q – And you responded to him and said typically these reports will be returned within 24 to 48 hours. Now, did you ever provide him with the report?

A – I don't think that I did, *but I did show them where I had done some residual testing and the blank that we use with the testing equipment, it will get, like, a yellow color. So you're basically kind of saying, "Okay. There's chemical in the system."*

(Id. at 439:10-20) (emphasis added). On cross-examination, Mr. Rutledge further confirmed his testimony that he injected corrosion inhibitor into the Cooling Water System on March 3 when he testified as follows:

Q – So when you came out there for your part of this project on March 3 ---when you came out there on March 3, I think your testimony was you plugged the pumps into the pigtailed on the controller; right?

A – Correct.

Q- You plugged in the controller –

A- Correct.

Q—Right? You got the controller calibrated and up and running –

A – Correct.

Q- --Right? And then you got – you fed chemicals?

A- Correct.

Q – --Right? And I think you told me in your deposition that you got everything in terms of the chemicals in the bell-shaped curve; right?

A – Got it started. Yeah. Yes.

Q - I think your testimony in your deposition—and we can look at it – was that you got all – I mean, whatever the readings were, whether it was pH or oxygen content or corrosion inhibitor or biocide, you got all of those—I think the words you kept using in your deposition was “in the bell-shaped curve.” You got them in the acceptable range. That’s what you did on March 3 according to your—that your testimony that you did on March 3; right?

A – Agreed.

(Id. at 476:15-477:15).

Furthermore, after corrosion was discovered in the Cooling Water System in July 2014, Mr. Rutledge stated in a meeting on August 5, 2014 that “monitoring and treatment has been taking place periodically since the initial startup of the system.” (Pl.’s Ex. 21). The jury did not believe him.

Analysis by O'Neal's experts established that the foregoing representations were objectively false. O'Neal's corrosion engineering expert, Dr. Van Der Schijff, testified with regard to the July 2014 corrosion: "I came to the conclusion that there was no inhibitor in the water to slow down and control the rate of corrosion." (Trial Tr. 330:18-20). Dr. Van Der Schijff further confirmed that chemical testing on metal heat exchanger tubes following the discovery of corrosion would have detected corrosion inhibitor had it been actually installed on March 3, 2014 as Mr. Rutledge claimed. (Id. at 333:11-334:10; Pl.'s Ex. 22). More simply put, Mr. Rutledge never introduced corrosion inhibitor into the Cooling Water System contrary to his representations confirmed in writing by email on March 4, 2014 and in meeting minutes with O'Neal on August 5, 2014.

GE Betz's argument as to its representations therefore undermines the testimony of its main witness. Taking the testimony of Mr. Rutledge together with GE Betz's arguments on appeal requires that the court believe all of the following: (1) that Mr. Rutledge performed chemical treatment on March 3; (2) that he properly performed chemical treatment on March 3, 2014; and (3) that no person on behalf of GE Betz ever made any representations of those actions. If GE Betz in fact provided competent chemical treatment on March 3, 2014, as its witness testified, then there would be no reason for GE Betz to disavow making any such representation to that effect.

B. Regarding the Corrosion Discovered in August 2015, GE Betz Represented that It Was Responsible for Chemical Treatment of the Cooling Water System Between August 2014 and August 2015.

After the corrosion was discovered in July 2014 and GE Betz, for the first time, claimed that it had no obligation to provide chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System because it did not have a contract, the Owner's representative ordered GE Betz to begin providing chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System from that point forward. (Trial Tr. 409:11-411:12; Def.'s Ex. 18). Following July 2014, there is no dispute that GE Betz was actually under a contract with

the Owner to perform chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System. (Trial Tr. 457:17-462:03; 500:12-17). By email dated August 21, 2014, GE Betz stated in an email to O'Neal and Owner:

Per our conversations yesterday, GE Betz will be [on] site for the start-up of the LNG system to initially charge the system and confirm the chemical residuals in the tower. Additionally we will continue regular service and monitoring as we would with systems that we have an agreement to treat which includes monitoring, corrective actions (if necessary) and reporting of our findings and actions.

(Pl.'s Ex. 25).

GE Betz's argument on appeal entirely ignores the 2015 corrosion. No party disputes that GE Betz had a contract to provide chemical treatment for the Cooling Water System after August 2014. This well-established fact clearly gives rise to an actionable representation under a negligent misrepresentation theory.

II. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT O'NEAL JUSTIFIABLY RELIED ON GE BETZ'S REPRESENTATIONS

A. Jury Verdicts as to Reasonableness Should Be Afforded Considerable Deference on Appeal.

GE Betz wrongfully argues that O'Neal failed to provide sufficient evidence that O'Neal's reliance on the representations made by GE Betz concerning the chemical treatment of the Cooling Water System were not reasonable. The term "reasonable" in and of itself implies a question of fact that should be left to the sound discretion of the jury. See Unlimited Servs., Inc. v. Macklen Enters., Inc., 303 S.C. 384, 387, 401 S.E.2d 153, 155 (1991) (stating "[t]he general rule is that questions concerning reliance and its reasonableness are factual questions for the jury.") The Supreme Court of South Carolina has repeatedly emphasized the fact-dependent nature of a "reasonableness" determination in the context of misrepresentation, stating as follows:

Our jurisprudence reflects a preference for a case by case approach to the question of whether a hearer's reliance on misrepresentations...is reasonable. That is so because 'fraud...assumes so many hues and forms, that courts are compelled to content themselves with comparatively few general rules for its discovery and defeat, and all the facts and circumstances peculiar to each case to bear heavily

upon the conscience and judgment of the court or jury in determining its presence of absence.’

Moseley v. All Things Possible, Inc., 395 S.C. 492, 498, 719 S.E.2d 656, 659 (2011) (quoting Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 348 S.C. 454, 466, 560 S.E.2d 606, 612 (2002)). Accordingly, in this case where the jury awarded a verdict that presumes that O’Neal’s reliance is reasonable, the jury’s decision should be afforded considerable deference.

B. Aside from the Deference Afforded to the Jury as to a Reasonableness Determination, O’Neal Presented a Substantial Amount of Evidence for the Jury to Conclude that O’Neal’s Reliance on GE Betz’s Representations That It Performed Chemical Treatment of the Cooling Water System Was Reasonable.

Courts considering the element of justifiable reliance have relied on the relative access to truthful information between the parties. See Hit Prods Corp. v. Anchor Fin. Corp., 111 F. Supp.2d 723, 727 (D.S.C. 1999). In Hit Products, the Court explained that reliance is justifiable “only if the relationship of the parties is such that the defendant occupies a superior position to the plaintiff with respect to the knowledge of the truth of the statement made.” Id. at 727 (quoting Harrington v. Mikell, 321 S.C. 518, 469 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1996). In that case, the court ultimately concluded that plaintiff’s reliance on a defendant-bank’s statement of the financial viability of a joint venturer was not justifiable where the manufacturer had been doing business with the joint venturer for much longer than the bank, knew about large unreported outstanding debts of the joint venturer and had previously entered into another joint venture with the company. Id. at 727–28. Based on those factors, the Court determined that the plaintiff had access to information concerning the financial viability of the joint venturer that was superior to the bank, who only had access to the joint venturer’s reported financial records. Id.

In this case, for nearly two years leading up to commissioning the chemical treatment for the Cooling Water System, O’Neal made known its understanding that GE Betz was providing

such services pursuant to some arrangement with the Owner. GE Betz often affirmed O'Neal's understanding and never corrected O'Neal.

As early as May 2012, after O'Neal was directed to contact GE Betz for water treatment, Phil McCollum, O'Neal's lead designer, testified as follows about a conversation between him and Jason Howell, a GE Betz employee, in May 2012:

Q – What discussions did y'all have about GE Betz's involvement at the GE facility, the GE campus generally?

A- That he currently was doing all of the treatment for all of the cooling towers on that [LNG Project] site. They had existing contracts in place to do all of that. They had a prearranged program that they agreed upon with GE Turbine [Owner] to—as far as the equipment they used for treating their cooling towers.

Q – So what did he tell you specifically about how they planned to handle this LNG Project?

A – That this would just be an extension of their existing contract.

(Trial Tr. 186:23-187:11; 191:11-24).

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